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“I remember, I remember them and I am overwhelmed by sadness.”

Lamentations 3:20



WE ARE THE SPIRITUAL HEIRS OF THE JEWISH COMMUNITY OF DVUR KRALOVE

“We, in this congregation, have come to understand ourselves as the heirs, the survivors of
the holy congregation that no longer exists in Dvur Krélové. Every time we hear the scroll
being read, we are reminded that we are their heirs through our deeds — by how we act and
what we do. We have been summoned to help build God’s holy realm; to fashion a time
and a place where, as the prophet said, ‘all may live safely under vine and fig tree with
none to make them afraid.’

“Many of us sitting here today have passed through terrible times; we have known great
personal tragedy as a result of the cataclysmic events that wicked people visited upon
the innocent. Our faith must not falter despite those tragedies whose trauma continues to
resonate in our hearts and minds. We must resolve to deny a posthumous victory to the
wicked. We must instead continue to proclaim the possibility of human goodness and
affirm the potential for justice and mercy in each of us. We must work to help bring people
closer to God, to that messianic era for which we yearn in the depths of our souls.

“Though we live comfortably here, we should not be deluded into thinking that this is the
way others live—in our own country and around the world. There is much work yet to be
done: to feed the hungry, to clothe the naked, to bring justice and peace to the world. We
are called to perform these mitzvot, to be the bearers of light in a world that has been
considerably darkened by human cruelty. The Torah — and this particular Torah scroll itself
— both proclaim that message. They speak to the highest potential of the human heart. Let
none of us forget that — ever.”

Excerpted from Rabhbi Palz’s presentation on the significance of the Holocaust Torah scroll to the congregation at every
bar/bat mitzvah service




A HISTORICAL INTRODUCTION

In 1975, Temple Sholom of West Essex became
the permanent custodian of a Torah scroll from
the destroyed synagogue in Dvur Kralové. Dvur
Kralove is a small industrial town on the Elbe
River ("Dvur Kralove nad Labem" in Czech). in
the northeast comner of Bohemia dose to the pre-
WorldWar IT German border (now the border with

Poland). some 65 miles from Prague.’

drav ze Duora’ Ar

Until Czechoslovakia became an independent
country following World War I, the Czech lands
(Bohemia and Moravia) were part of the Hapsburg
Austrian Empire. The German name for Dvur
Kralové was Koniginhof. It was founded by King
Wenceslaus 1T of Bohemia (1278-1305) as a gift
for his wife; the city's name-in both German

and Czech - means "court of the queen." There
have been Jews in the Czech lands for more than a
millennium (the 1.000th anniversary was

Postcard from 1910 showing a panoramic view of Dvur Kralové; the synagogue is one of the tallest buildings, its dome visible on the left

! Dvur Krélové has several claims to fame, as virtually every Internet
entry for the town notes. One is the fact that Otto Gutfreund was born
there (more on that later in our text). The second is the association
of Dvur Krilové with an infamous hoax, the forgery of a document
purported to date from the 13th century. The document was allegedly
discovered in the tower of the Church of St. John the Baptist in Dvur
Krélové on September 16, 1817 by Viclav Hanka, a Czech patriot,
philosopher, poet and philologist who was born and raised in the
town. Called “The Manuscript of Dvur Krélové,” it seemed to support
the antiquity of literature in the Czech language, thereby helping to
legitimize the “authenticity” of the nascent Czech nationalism of the
19th century. These seven closely-written parchment sheets created a
scholarly sensation and for many years the manuscript was frequently
printed. It was translated into most European languages. Antonin

Dvofak wrote a number of songs based on the poems of the manuscript.

The acclaim turned to scandal when the manuscript was later exposed
as a forgery. One of the scholars who helped prove its inauthenticity
was Tom4§ Masaryk. Although there are still scholars, handwriting
analysts and chemists who continue to examine the documents in the
hope that they are indeed genuine, most scholars have concluded that
the manuscript was unquestionably forged. In Dvur Krélové today, a
monument and a square with Hanka’s name recall the story.

The town is also known today for its world-famous zoo, founded in
1945 on the site of what was originally a private park and villa built

at the beginning of the 20th century by Richard Neumann. His family
was among the most prominent textile manufacturers in Dvur Krélové
and among those most instrumental in raising the money to build the
synagogue.



celebrated in 1968), but no Jews were allowed to
live in the royal town of Koniginhof. However,
there were Jews in the area that includes the
district of Dvur Krilové as early as the 15th
century.” Refugees who fled the Ukraine during
the Chmielnitzki massacres in 1648 augmented
their number, but none lived in the city itself
until the mid-19th century. Conditions for Jews
were harsh everywhere, According to a law of
the Austrian Empire enacted in 1726, only 8,600
Jewish families were permitted to reside in
Bohemia, with only the eldest son of each family
allowed to marry. The rest theoretically had to
wait until the death of someone already married,
however the community got around the ruling

by ignoring the Empire’s edict and sanctioning
marriages performed by a rabbi and recognized
by Jewish law. The children of these unions were
not legitimate according to the laws of the Empire.
This repressive ruling was population-inhibiting,
as was intended.

In the 19th century, Bohemia and Moravia were
caught up in the move to national revival sweeping
across Europe. The Czech lands joined in the
wars of 1848. In fact, Prague was the first city

in the Austrian Empire to rise up in favor of
reform. Koniginhof was the scene of a number

of battles and changed hands back and forth
between combatant groups. On June 29, 1866, the
Austrian army was totally defeated there by the
Prussians. The Austro-Hungarian Empire, as this
huge multi-ethnic entity became as a result of the
strife, lasted until the end of the First World War,
However, the ever-stronger nationalist movement
increasingly reduced the role of imperialism in the
Czech lands and stimulated a blossoming of Czech
history, language and culture. This development
was initially good but ultimately devastating for
the Jews who had moved into Kéniginhof / Dvur
Krélové in the 1850s.
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THE JEWISH COMMUNITY OF KONIGINHOF /
DVUR KRALOVE

Kd&niginhof /Dvur Krilové was an important
textile center’ from as early as the 16th century,
processing mostly cotton and jute. Town records
from that century show the existence of cloth,
weaving and dying guilds. By the early 19th
century, dyers in Dvur Kralové were already
printing on fabric. The first machine textile
printing plant was founded in 1874 by Vilem
(Wilhelm) Schlein.* Within that decade three
additional textile printing plants were established.
Over the following years, Dvur Krilové became a
noted center for textile printing.

Records name Bernard Mautner, originally from
the town of Hofice, as the first Jew to take up
residence in Dvur Krdlové. In 1838, he became
the owner of a “cotton factory,” acquired from
his Christian debtor Kristoph Weckerlin. In
1846, Jakob Kohn (who had some relationship to
alcohol-production or perhaps to a pub) was also
living there, and in 1853 they were joined by Jakob
Nettel, a tanner, who probably came from the
nearby village of Velkd Bukovina (which at that
time still had a functioning synagogue).

2There were Jews in the village of Velka Bukovina (Grossbock, in
German), some 10 kilometers east of Dvur Krélové before 1679. The
Kohn and Nettl families of Dvur Krdlové were initialiy connected with
Velka Bukovina, which was the native village of Isak Nettl, who served
as Dvur Krélové’s cantor (seven families with the surname Nettl are on
the community rolls of Velka Bukovina in 1811!). The Jewish cemetery
in the village bas legible tombstones dating back to 1744; the last burial
was in 1932. There was a Jewish street with small one-story wooden
houses and a synagogue. The synagogue, built around 1829, was built in
the vaulted classicist-empire style. There were two original entries in the
western wall, perhaps separate entries for men and women, with Hebrew
inscriptions carved into the lintels. The synagogue was pulled down
in 1906 owing to structural instability, although the west portals of the
synagogue ruin, with their Hebrew inscriptions, remained standing untit
1989, when they were destroyed,

It is useful to understand the significance of Czechoslovakia's textile
industry. The “teatile industry in its various branches — cotton, wool,
linen, jute and silk — was perhaps the most important industry in the
whole of this highly industrialized republic, employing the largest
number of hands (277,000 in 1920; 360,000 in 1935) and also having the
largest total of export trade.... Most of the mills were in the mountain
districts around the borders of the country where water power was
abundant. The popuiation in these mountain sections was predominantly
German and Austrian.” From Czechoslovakia in European History by §.
Harrison Thomson (Princeton, 1943, 1953)

# Schlein’s name is first mentioned in the 1889 minutes (“protocols”) of
the Board of Trustees of the Dvur Krélové Jewish community. By 1898,
he has become responsible for the financial dealings of the community
and retained that position until 1919, His death is noted in community
records of the end of 1924,




Exterior view of the Templ in Dvur Kralové taken shortly after the synagogue wés built. (Later

photographs show tall trees flanking the building.) Note the Jewish star over the entryway portico,
the Ten Commandments at the peak of the arched pediment above the triple windows, the star in
the roof tiles and the star at the very top of the tower that surmounts the dome.

On the whole, the Jews who moved into the town
were a prosperous, upper middle class group. |
By 1862, they had formed a Jewish community
organization. Led by a number of wealthy textile

manufacturers, most notably the families of M. B.

Neumann, Gustav Deutsch, M. Mandl, Weiss and
- Lowenbach, who owned the largest textile firms,
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they quickly raised the money, drew up plans and an
architect’s rendering, and built the city’s first and only
synagogue. Called the Templ (or Tempel, according
to some sources), this liberal (non-Orthodox, perhaps
Reform) congregation was located in the center of the
town (at what is now the intersection of Rooseveltova
and 17. Listopadu streets).



Its high domé, with a Jewish star worked into
the roof tiles, dominated the skyline. (It appears
as one of the thirteen distinguished buildings

of Kéniginhof on an early 20th century picture
postcard of the town.) An 1880 census lists 124
Jewish citizens, 1.8% of the population.

1940 postcard showing Hankovo Namesti, the square named for
Vaclav Hanka, in Dvur Krélové. The synagogue, with its prominent
dome, is clearly visible in the background '

The Yearbook of the Jewish Religious
Communities of Bohemia for 1893-94/5654
contains the following information about the
Jewish community of Kéniginhof:
It is presently the strongest religious
community of the political district, with a
newly-built temple [completed in 1890} and
a cemetery [opened in 1885]. The Jewish
community, closely tied to the developing
local industry [textiles], is steadily growing in
strength. Koniginhof is currently reorganizing
its community procedures. More than 200
persons of the Jewish faith live within the
community’s jurisdiction. The president is
Heinrich Mayer; the treasurer is Leopold
Popper; the secretary is Ernst Gerber. The
community’s 1892-93 income amounted
to 3,092.89 Austro-Hungarian florins;
expenditures were 2,900 fl.

The Koniginhof Jewish community has a
private school for religious instruction. The
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instructor, Mr. Emanuel Pollak, also serves

as the congregation’s reader and cantor (with
rabbinical ordination). It also has a bequest

of 100 fl. given by Mrs. Marie Feldscharek

in memory of her late husband Camill, and

a hevre kadisha [Jewish burial society]. The
director of the burial society is Mr. Leopold
Schick; the members of the burial society board
are Julius Bauer, Albert Nettel and Ignaz Kohn.

By 1895, the community had created a charitable
association to help the poor. A Women’s Guild was
also established early on, which we know because
they contributed at least one of the congregation’s
Torah mantles, but the only name in the existing
records is that of Fanny Pick (Franti§ka Pickova),
who chaired the group in 1925.

Interior of the Dvur Krilové Templ



The move to Czech nationalism that opened

Dvur Krilové to Jews ironically and sadly, after

a very short time, undermined the community. In
the politically tense and ethnically sensitive first
decade of the 20th century, Jews throughout the
country were torn between the German society
they knew, and which many viewed as cultured,
cosmopolitan and essentially friendly to Jews, and
the rapidly developing Czech national culture.

As of the 1900 census, there were 7,486 town
inhabitants who identified themselves culturally
and by choice of language with the Czech lands
and 1,486 who identified themselves with German
culture and language. The existence of a Czech
majority precipitated a crisis in the Jewish
community.

In 1910, a maximum of 332 Jews are listed as
being on the city rolls of Dvur Krélové, some
2.2% of the population. The community’s own
figures give the number as 399, which includes

the Jews living both in Dvur Krilové and in
neighboring Jaromér. The congregation also served
Jews living in the rural areas surrounding these
towns, bringing the number of people belonging
to the Dvur Kralové Jewish community to 511. In
that year, the decision was made, presumably after
great debate within the community, to change the
language of instruction in the synagogue school
from German to Czech. This decision irreparably
divided the community. The financial structure

of the Jewish community was undercut not only
because of the internal rift but because the shift to
the Czech language violated the legal clauses of a
number of foundations whose absentee-directed
funds supported the community.

By 1918, the religious school (which had opened
in 1870) and most of the Jewish community’s
functions had been transferred to the nearby
city of Trutnov-Trautenau, a few miles north,

in the Sudetenland,® along with the majority

of the congregation’s ritual objects. The rest

remained in the synagogue in Koniginhof / Dvur
Krélové or in the hands of individual members

of the community; some were apparently given

to the local museum. The synagogue building
still belonged to the Jews of the city and the
community continued to maintain some functions,
as is evidenced by the dates of the terms of the
officers who served after 1910. It is possible that
there continued to be religious instruction for the
Czech-speaking Jewish children in Dvur Kréilové,
but there are no records to confirm it,

By 1930, according to census figures, the number
of Jews had dropped to 182, 1.1% of the town’s
population, although again the figure is somewhat
higher — 293 — in the Jewish records.

5 1In 1919, one result of the Versaiiles Peace Conference which established
a number of successor states out of the former Austro-Hungarian
Empire, was the creation of Czechoslovakia. The Sudeteniand, a u-
shaped area of about 11,000 square miles tbat bordered Germany and
Austria and was largely populated by ethnic Germans, became part of
the new state. As nationalist fervor mounted in the 1920s, the residents
of the Sudetenland began to agitate to have their territory unified with
Germany. By 1935, a Sudeten-German Party, financed from within Nazi
Germany, repeatedly complained that the Czech-dominated government
discriminated against them. Germans who had lost their jobs in the
depression argued that they would be better off under Hitler. In 1938,
Hitler met with the heads of Britain, France and Italy in Munich, where
they signed an agreement that arbitrarily detached the Sudetenland
from Czechoslovakia and transferred it to Germany, in return for
which Hitler stated that he would not make any further territorial
demands in Europe. The Czechs were informed of the decision only
after the conference. Given the appeasement policies of the British
under Neville Chamberlein and the isolationism of the United States
and their own weakness and unwillingness to act alone, the Czech
government, under Eduard Benes, accepted the loss of the Sudetenland
in the interest of what they thought would preserve peace in Europe. For
the ethnic Germans, this was a cultural and potentially economically
advantageous move; for the Nazi leadership, it was a brilliant coup:
Without any military action, Germany came into possession of nearly
all of Czechoslovakia’s mountain fortifications, leaving the country
unable 1o defend itself; dislocated the country’s entire system of rail
communication and devastated it economically. According to German
statistics, the Sudetenland was home to 66% of Czechoslovakia's
coal, 70% of its iron and steel, 80% of its lignite, 80% of its textile
manufacture, 75% of its railway carriage works, 80% of its glass, 86%
of its chemicals, 90% of its news-type, 40% of its timber and 70% of its
electric power supplies.

Although Dvur Krélové is technically in the Sudetenland by virtue of its
location on the northern bank of the Elbe River, the preponderance of
Czech speakers there kept it from inclusion in the territory “returmed” to
Germany. The border looped around Dvur Krilové.




COMMUNITY LEADERS

We know the names of a number of key leaders of
~ the Jewish community and its synagogue in Dvur
Kralové and their terms of office over the years:®

Rabbi Emanuel (Emil) Poliak

— served the congregation from
before 1892 to 1918, or perhaps
even later, and also functioned

| as the synagogue’s cantor during
. most of those years

Cantor M. Rilbenstein — 1864

Cantor Isak Nettl
— September 1883 — September 1885

Members of the Board of Directors of
the Jewish community at the time the
synagogue was built (1860s-1890s):

Julius Bauer — 1885
Heinrich Jung

Ignaz Kohn

Heinrich Mayer — 1893-1896

Dr. Heinrich Wessely

Chairmen:

Adolf Kohn
1896
1906 — 1919

Hermann Nettel
1897-1906

Dr. Ernst (Arnost) Back
1919-1924

Ludwig (Ludvik) Krug
1924-1936

Chairmen of the Religious Community:
® Gustav Deutsch ‘
| 1907-1920

nd. - ? Gutfreund

§ Please note that our information is often sketchy and at times
contradictory; we have attempted to correlate dates and provide as
coherent a chronology — and memorial — as possible; any errors are our
own, committed with the best of intentions.
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Treasurer:
1898-1919 — Vilem (Wilhelm) Schlein

Shamash:
1936-1938 — Arnost Feldscharek
1938-1940 — Rudolf Kohn

Synagogue and Cemetery Administrator:
1910-1942 — Karel Kohn

Hevre Kadisha Chairmen:
1893-1894 — Leopold Schick
1902-1913 — Gustav Deutsch
1914-1918 — Eduard Miinz

Charitable Association (“Armenverein”):
1895-1901 — organization exists, but without a chair
1902 — Heinrich Jung, chairman

1903 — Josef Fischer, chairman (?)

Women’s Guild:
1925 — Fanny Pick, chairwoman

Beginning in October 1942, 111 Jews were sent
from Dvur Krélové to Terezin. Most of them died
in the gas chambers of Auschwitz. No Jewish
community was reestablished in Dvur Kralové
after World War I17

Masarykovo Namesti, the main town sguare, named for Toméé Masaryk the “foundlng father” of Czechoslovakla Note the sign on the
store owned by Karel Kohn, the synagogue and cemetery administrator of the Dvur Krélové Jewish community from 1910 until December
1942, when he, together with most of the Jews of Dvur Kralové, was arrested and sent to Terezin.

7 A Jewish congregation was reestablished in Trutnov in 1945, although
most of its members were not Czech Jews but came as immigrants from
Soviet Ruthenia, Poland, Hungary and Romania. Many of them then left
Czechoslovakia beginning in 1948 for Israel, Germany, the United States
and other countries. There were 23 Jews in Trutnov in 1960, and by 1987,
there were only 2 Jewish men living there.




THESE WE
- REMEMBER

We memorialize here the Jewish citizens of Dvur
Kréalové who were murdered in the Holocaust.
The names that follow are the ones that are
known; perhaps there were other members of the
community whose names and fate are forever lost.

TEREZIN

Almost all of the Jews still in Dvur Kralové when
the deportations began were taken by train from
nearby Hradec Krélové to Terezin (known in
German as Theresienstadt). Ninety-three of them
were among the people taken on Transport Ch

on December 17, 1942, and four others were on
Transport Ci on December 21st.

Terezin was a fortress town built in 1780, during
the reign of Josef II of Austria, as a bulwark
against Prussian aggression. It is enclosed by
ramparts and a dry moat. Within the walls were
the elements common to an army garrison:
barracks, a bank, a post office, some shops, a
‘tavern and brewery, with a church dominating

the main town square. Its pre-war population was
about 5,000 people, mainly soldiers and their
families. At the end of 1941, the Nazis decided to
convert Terezin into a ghetto. The inhabitants were
expelled and, by the end of 1942, over 56,000 Jews
were interned there. Families were separated and
men, women and children were segregated in the
squalid, overcrowded barracks. '

Terezin was neither a death camp nor a
concentration camp like the many others in the
Nazi system. It served two purposes. It was a
transit camp through which 152,000 prisoners
passed on their way to death camps in the East.

Its second purpose was to serve as a showcase
for Nazi propaganda “demonstrating” how

“well” Hitler was treating “his Jews.”® The Nazi
administrators required the inmates to organize
a self-govetnment that struggled to manage
health care and provide social welfare services.
A remarkable culture flourished in the Ghetto,
despite the harsh living conditions and the erratic
turnover of prisoners. Notable artists, musicians
and writers, rabbis (including Leo Baeck of Berlin)
and academics interned there created a remarkable
variety of educational and cultural programs for
adults and children, much of it in secret with
harsh punishment or immediate deportation the
fate of those who were discovered.” Inmates
mounted full-scale productions of such operas as
Smetana’s “The Bartered Bride,” Mozart’s “The
Marriage of Figaro,” Strauss’s “Die Fledermaus,”
Verdi’s “Rigoletto,” Puccini’s “Tosca™ and Bizet’s
“Carmen”; ambitious choral works, including

the Verdi “Requiem”; plays by Chekhov, Gogol,
Moliere and Czech writers; shows written and
performed in Terezin, including satiric musical
reviews such as Karel Svenk’s “The Lost Food
Card,” “The Last Cyclist” and “The Same But
Different”; and cabaret evenings.

One of the 520 people who gave lectures in
Terezin was Karel Breuer from Dvur Krilové.l

® In June 1944, in connection with the visit of the Swedish Red Cross (who
were totally hoodwinked by what they saw), the Nazis made a film called
“Hitler Gives the Jews a Town.” Virtually everyone forced to participate
in the making of the film, from the cinematographers to the children
on the streets to the athletes on the soccer field, were sent to Auschwitz
almost immediately after the filming.

¢ Many books have been written about the artists and musicians whose
works defied the Nazis and celebrated life, even as they portrayed the
dreadful conditions under which they were living, including Gerald
Green’s Artists of Terezin (Hawthorn, 1969) Josef Bor’s The Terezin
Requiem (Berlin, 1964), University Over the Abyss: The story behind
520 lecturers and 2,430 lectures in KZ Theresienstadt 1942-1944
by Elena Makarova, Sergei Makarov and Victor Kuperman (Verba
Publishers Lid., Jerusalem: 2004).

0 According to University Over the Abyss, Breuer spoke about his vision
of what life would be like after the war. He predicted “a tendency
toward efficient use of time, reduction of working hours, etc. In the
future, he wanted to open a factory producing half-prepared food, which
was thought a novelty at the time.”



A remarkable amount was done to educate the

children, sustain their morale and introduce them
to creative arts. The children’s opera “Brundibar”
by Hans Krédsa,! written in 1938, was performed

55 times by different groups of children in Terezin.

The most famous of the children’s teachers was
Friedl Dicker-Brandeis."? An accomplished
painter, she studied at the Bauhaus in Weimar,
worked with Paul Klee and Wassily Kandinsky
and created stage sets for Berthold Brecht’s plays.
Her art, architectural drawings and the furniture
she designed were influenced by and in their turn
influenced the Bauhaus school. Her theories about
the therapeutic power of art were groundbreaking,
and tragically she had the opportunity to put them
into practice when she was deported there from
Prague in December, 1942. As children over the
age of 14 were required to work, and education
was officially forbidden, she created drawing
classes for the younger children. She wrote:

“The drawing classes are not meant to make
artists out of all the children. They are to free

and broaden such sources of energy as creativity
and independence, to awaken the imagination, to
strengthen the children’s powers of observation
and appreciation of reality” in a setting that

exposed them to endless lines of people waiting for

food, daily processions of funeral wagons pulled
by human beings, cramped conditions, poorly

heated barracks and severe shortages of everything

except misery. In 1943, while in Terezin, she

wrote a study called “Art as Therapy for Children”

based on what she was teaching and experiencing,
and that summer lectured to a teachers’ seminar
in Terezin on “Children’s Drawings.” Dicker-
Brandeis herself taught about 100 of the children
and was the inspiration for the others who taught.
She was deported to Auschwitz on October 6,
1944, where she was murdered.

Some 4,000 drawings and collages by children
— using scraps of paper and art supplies meant
for other purposes — survived the war and are in
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the archives of the Jewish Museum in Prague.

The best-known of these drawings, together

with children’s poems, were gathered by Hana
Volavkové and published in 1959 as ... I Never
Saw Another Butterfly ... Children’s Drawings
and Poems from Terezin Concentration Camp
1942-1944. Drawings by three children from Dvur
Krilové are among the 4,000 drawings in the
museum’s collection: five by Otto Hammerschlag,
almost 11 years old when he arrived in Terezin
who was deported to Auschwitz two months before
his 13th birthday; four by Petr Hellman, who
arrived in Terezin when he was 9 years old and
was deported to Auschwitz at the age of 11; and
seven by Marianna Schén (Schénova), who was 10
years old when she arrived in Terezin and 12 when
she was deported to Auschwitz .

No poems by children from Dvur Kralové have
been identified in the museum archive.

Most historians believe that of the 15,000 children
who passed through Terezin barely more than 100
survived.

" Brundibar, retold as a children’s story by Tony Kushner with
illustrations by Maurice Sendak, was published hy Michael Di Capua
Books in 2003.

2 Qur memher, Ruth Fost, wrote a play about Friedl Dicker-Brandeis and
the children she taught in the Terezin Ghetto. 1t is regularly performed
for young audiences hy Fost’s company, Pushcart Players. 1n 2002, with
Rabhi Patz’s assistance, Pushcart took “The Last Butterfly” to the Czech
Republic, performing in a numher of cities, most notably for a local
school group and a class from the Lauder School in Prague in what was
once the secret theater in the Magdehurg barracks in Terez{n.





















































































AFTER THEWAR
Czechoslovakia came under Communist rule
following the war. In 1966', despite valiant attempts
(particularly by Robert Weiss, apparently the
last Jew to live in Dvur Krélové, having returned
there after serving as a soldier in a unit of the |
Czechoslovak army in exile during World War IT)
to have the synagogue declared a national cultural
monument (something that was done successfully
in numbers of places elsewhere in the country),
the synagogue was demolished. There is nothing
left, not even a plaque to indicate the site of its
lot;atiOn. And only a ruined gate and some piled up
~ fragments of tombstones remain at the cemetery..

Phntbgraphs by Architect MiloZ Tins of the demolition of the Tempt in Dvur Kralové, January 1966
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Rabbi Norman and Naomi Patz visited the site
of the cemetery in 2002. It is a rectangular

- plot at the corner of two small roads. Although
the cemetery was once surrounded by a wall, -
no sign of it remains. The mortuary hall and
columbarium are totally gone. Vestiges of the
ceremonial entrance gate are still standing, as are
a number of tombstones in incredibly dilapidated
condition. Someone has piled the fragments of

many other tombstones in a rough cairn against a.

tree. Naomi picked up a small granite block, the
broken-off piece of a tombstone, to bring home
to the congregation and discovered on it the word
adar — the name of the Hebrew month in which
we celebrate the festival of Purim. Purim is the

holiday on which we are commanded to both
blot out the name of Haman and to remember
Amalek — two of the greatest enemies of our |
people. Blotting out and remembering seem to

~ be contradictory and yet they are not: We cannot

forget, but we must

not be paralyzed by
‘memory. And so itis
fitting that our tradition
also teaches: “When
Adar begins, it is time
to be joyful!” Finding
this tombstone fragment
in the cemetery in Dvur
Krélové is therefore
strikingly symbolic:

We must remember the
deeds of Hitler and the
other enemies of our
people even as we look
forward with hope and
joy to what lies ahead.




ORNAMENTS BELONGING TO THE DVUR
KRALOVE “TEMPL”

A small number of ritual items belonging to

the Jewish community of Dvur Krdlové are in
the collection of the Jewish Museum in Prague.
Some of these may originally have come from the
synagogue in Velkd Bukovina, all of whose ritual
objects were brought with them to the synagogue
in Dvur Krélové by the members of the Velkd
Bukovina congregation when it was torn down in
1906. The curators of the Jewish Museum made
them available to the Patzes to examine during a
visit to Prague in 2004. -

Among them are seven Torah mantles, Their
designs are typically Bohemian, with flowers
and crowns.

One mantle is inscribed with the name
“Koniginhof™; another is the “gift of Gitl
Friedman.” The Hebrew letters on the mantle
which bears the name Yaakov Nettl were
probably styled by a tombstone inscriber and

then embossed. A mantle was contributed as the
“gift of the Women’s Guild.” One inscription is

so extensive that the text wraps around both the
front and the back of the mantle. Some of the
Hebrew letters are precut (and were probably
purchased that way) and then sewn onto the fabric
of the mantle, no doubt by someone who did not
read Hebrew, which would explain why the name
Mordecai appears “Modrecai”.

One of the mantles is much smaller than the
others, and most probably was the mantle in which
“our” Torah scroll was dressed. The fabric has
vertical stripes in greens and pinks on its exterior
surface, and is adorned with the Hebrew letters
keter torah — “the crown of Torah” — in metallic
ribbon. The mantle is lined with a floral patterned
silk. This mantle and some of the others contain
a circular seal stamped on parchment and sewn
into the fabric. It is a label stating in German
both names of the community: Kéniginhof an die
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Elbe and Dvur Krilové nad Laben. Half the seal
is in German and half in Czech. The museum’s
catalogue number for the mantle for “our” Torah is
#59-650.

Among the other ritual objects is a hoshen—
“breastplate” (also known as a Torah shield) in

folk style — hearts and flowers in a vase, with a

crown held up by ribbons attached to stylized
lions. The museum has 2-3 similar breastplates,
all without borders. The silversmith is unknown,
but most probably was a Jewish silversmith not
registered with the guilds (the silversmiths’ guild
was organized in 1805). However, as there were
also non-Jewish artisans working outside the
guild, the provenance is not absolutely certain.
The breastplate is late 18th or very early 19th
century, so it was not created for the synagogue
in Dvur Krdlové but contributed as the gift (n'da-
vah) of Yehudah Ari Kleiber and Moshe, Shmuel
and Miriam Kleiber, whose names appear on the
hoshen.




A silver tzedakah box dated 1886 -
to the hevrah kadisha (burial so
Popper. A unique feature of tk

i,

Other treasures include a silver
etched with leaves and vines and an insc
indicating that it was contribu
and Emma Freund. This pointer is de
Austro-Hungarian provenance
Another pointer is in the shape o
a ring ornamented with a semi-pr
which is — according to the curat
practice for pointers made in G
pointer, dated 1810, lists the mal
contains the mark FZ and the date 1810; it w
made in Opava, in Silesia.

A large kiddush cup made

in Vienna in the late 18th
century was given on July
22, 1899 by Heinrich and
Maria Jung on the occasion
of their son Ernst becoming
a bar mitzvah. Another silver
kiddush cup is the gift of
Julius and Amalie Bauer.
There is one Torah crown
from from Dvur Krilové

in the museum’s collection.
Fabricated of “coin silver”
(875) and gilt (and with the
maker’s mark L)), it was
contributed by Marie and
Arnost Gerber in honor of
their sons Karla (Carl) and
Bernard becoming b’nei
mitzvah. The crown is a
standard Viennese design,
with bells, flowers and vines.
The bells of the Torah crown
rang with a clear, beautiful
musical tone,
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THE JEWISH MUSEUM IN PRAGUE

The ritual objects in the possession of the Jewish
Museum in Prague are their own Holocaust

story. The Prague Jewish Museum was founded
by Salomon Hugo Lieben (1881-1942) in 1906,
making it the third oldest Jewish museum in
Central Europe (preceded by Vienna, 1895 and
Frankfurt, 1897). Its founding was prompted by
the city’s extensive reconstruction project in the
Old Jewish Town. The object of the founders

was “to collect, preserve and exhibit ritual items
of household and synagogue worship as well as
archive materials, manuscripts and old prints
depicting Jewish history and illustrations of Jewish
monuments and personalities.” Most importantly,
“its collections were to be based solely on items
from Prague and the Czech Lands.” The museum
was housed first in part of the newly constructed
building of the Prague Burial Society and later, as
a result of the large number of visitors and growth
of the collections, the permanent exhibition was
moved to the former Ceremonial Hall by the Old
Jewish Cemetery. In 1929, the museum recorded a
total of 13,233 visitors.

In October 1938, the Germans occupied the
Sudetenland, and moved into the
remainder of the Czech lands six
months later. (Slovakia became a
separate fascist client state of Nazi
Germany.) The museum was closed
and the Museum Association was

Prague at the Jewish Museum. This appealed

to the Nazis, who planned to display the
assembled objects as a showcase “museum of the
exterminated ethnographic species” after their
victory. They agreed to the proposal and the
Prague synagogues were turned into storehouses
for confiscated Jewish property.

Beginning in 1942, Jewish scholars worked
feverishly to catalogue the mountains of sacred
objects and materials that poured into what was
now known as the Central Jewish Museum.
Among them were Dr. Hana Volavkova, an

art historian who survived the war and wrote

a number of books about the museum and its
collections; FrantiSek Zelenka, an avant-garde
architect and stage designer who continued to
create exciting sets and costume designs for
performances that took place while he was
interned at Terezin (including the costumes for
Karel Svenk’s “The Last Cyclist”), and was
murdered in Auschwitz in 1944; and Jif{ Weil,
who managed to survive the war in hiding and
later wrote the epilogue for I Never Saw Another
Butterfly, Children’s Drawings and Poems from
Terezin Ghetto 1942-1944 as well as the historical
novel Mendelssohn Is On the Roof.

dissolved. By the autumn of 1941,
the Germans forced the closure of
all of the synagogues in what was
now known as the Protectorate

of Bohemia and Moravia. Some
officials of the Jewish community,
hoping to safeguard whatever ritual
objects, books and archives they
could preserve, approached the
Gestapo with the suggestion that
all of these materials be gathered in

From the small community of Dvur Kr&lové alone, the scholars inventoried 110 objects,
among them our Torah scroll, catalogued by Jifi Weil and tagged as number 61.282.



They were ordered, before being deported to
Terezin — and from there, most of them, to
Auschwitz — to mount exhibitions of the materials
being collected. The first was an exhibition of
Hebrew manuscripts and old prints in the High
Synagogue. Another, dedicated to medieval
synagogue architecture, was installed in the
Altneushul. The largest exhibition, based on
Jewish customs and traditions, was installed in the
Klausen Synagogue during 1943. Hana Volavkova
and Josef Poldk (1886-1945) created the Museum
of the Prague Ghetto in the Ceremonial Hall

by the Old Jewish Cemetery. “Working under
intolerable conditions and with the constant threat
of deportation or arrest, the museum personnel
managed to create in just two years a project
which under normal conditions would have taken
decades to complete. During the summer and
autumn of 1944, the majority of senior personnel
were deported to Terezin and the death camps; the
rest were transported in February 1945.”

Before the war, the museum’s collection included
approximately 1,000 items. Under Nazi direction,
some 140,000 additional ritual objects became the
property of the museum.

After the war, the tragically diminished and
impoverished Czech Jewish community struggled
to maintain the museum, renewing museum
activities under the administration of the Council
of Jewish Communities in Czechoslovakia;

Hana Volavkov4 served as its director. A new
department was created to document wartime
persecution and to preserve monuments. Where
possible, confiscated property was returned to its
original owners and ritual objects were provided
for the needs of the 52 reconstituted Jewish
communities. But the community was helpless

in the face of the Communist government’s
nationalization of the museum on April 4, 1950.
In the tense atmosphere of the political trials
taking place in the 1950s,' no specifically Jewish
objects were on display; the only exhibitions were

of children’s drawings from Terezin. The Pinkas
Synagogue was designated as a memorial to the

77,297 Jewish victims from the Czech Lands. In
- the wake of Israel’s victory in the 1967 Six Day

War, the Communist government broke relations
with Israel and closed down the display of names
for “technical” reasons (and was not open to the
public again until 1992), after the collapse of

the regime. In 1983-85, the museum permitted

a large foreign exhibition — Precious Legacy

— to tour in the United States and Canada. After
the “Velvet Revolution” in 1989, many traveling
exhibitions were prepared by the museum for
exhibition in Israel, Europe and the United States.
In 1992, the Pinkas Synagogue was reopened and
reconstruction of the Memorial begun in earnest.

~ The Dvur Kralové section of the Memorial is in

the entryway to the main sanctuary. In 1994, the
museum was returned to the Federation of Jewish
Communities in the Czech Republic and Dr. Leo
Pavlit became its director. Today, as well as in the
Communist era, the Jewish Museum in Prague

is one of the most visited tourist sites in Central
Europe. £

1S These were the first political “show” trials orchestrated by Joseph Stalin
to remove Jews from positions of leadership in the Soviet satellite '
countries. Rudolf Slansky, a Jew who was Secretary General of the
Czech Communist Party, was the most prominent of the victims.




THE MEMORIAL SCROLLS COMMITTEE

Neither the Nazi-controlled Museum
of the Prague Ghetto nor the
Communist-controlled State Jewish
Museum ever displayed any of the
1,564 Torah scrolls gathered during
the war. They were stored — piled up
and ignored — in the disused Michle
- Synagogue in a Prague suburb for
more than 20 years. In 1963, with
the sympathetic interest of a Czech
government eager for Western
currency, Eric Estorick, a London
art connoisseur and member of the
Westminster Synagogue in London,

was able to arrange for the purchase Some of the 1,564 Torah scrolis awaiting restoration in the Westminster Synagogue
of the scrolls for 30,000 pounds in London :

sterling generously provided in a grant
by Ralph Yablon.!® The packing and shipping
were themselves no small undertaking, and all
was done with meticulous care. At Estorick’s
instance, custodianship of the scrolls was given
to a Memorial Scrolls Committee formed at
the Westminster Synagogue. The first task of
the committee was the careful unpacking and
numbering of the scrolls, and the construction, in
three rooms of the synagogue, of racks designed
to hold the scrolls. Each scroll was inspected and
catalogued by an expert, and a record made, so far
as was possible, of the origin and age of the scroll,
its general physical condition — the wooden rollers,
the parchment, and, most important, the state of
the text. If all of the letters were intact or could
be corrected, the scroll was kosher, i.e., still able
to be read as part of congregational worship; if it
was too damaged (torn, cut, no longer complete)
or if the text was too degraded, the scroll could
still be displayed as a Holocaust memorial but was
not fit for use. About 500-600 of the scrolls were
deemed beyond rehabilitation. A scribe then began
the enormous job of repairing the rest of the Torah
scrolls so that they could be salvaged and returned

16 Ralph Yablon, a British solicitor, is a prominent philanthropist in the
to use. Jewish community of England.

From the beginning, the intention of the Memorial
Scrolls Committee was to provide scrolls on
“permanent loan” to synagogues around the world.
Each scroll bears a brass tablet with a number
corresponding to the number on a certificate that
describes the origin of the scroll and any known
particulars. Our scroll is number 194,
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OUR TORAH SCROLL

Every member of Temple Sholom of West Essex,
and especially our young people who have been
called to the Torah as b’nei mitzvah since 1977,
is the spiritual heir of the Jews of the destroyed
kehillah k'doshah (“‘holy community”) in Dvur
Krélové. The Torah came to us as the result of a
request by our member, Dr. Samuel Portugal, who
wanted to contribute to the congregation a Torah
scroll small enough to be carried by our b’nei
mitzvah. Rabbi Patz recognized immediately that
this was an ideal opportunity to create a living
Holocaust memorial that would directly impact
every youngster who grew up in the congregation.
He contacted the Memorial Scrolls Committee and
entered upon a correspondence with Ruth Shaffer,
the Honorary Secretary of the
Committee. Although Mrs.
Schaffer initially indicated
(March 20, 1975) that she
would like for us to take

“a damaged scroll (legible

but not kasher) and give

it a special place in your
Sanctuary to use on specific
commemorative occasions
and give it life and purpose

in this fashion,” because “it is
the policy of my committee

to only allocate usable scrolls
to congregations that are

just starting out and do not
have a scroll of their own,”
she was intrigued in further
~correspondence by the rabbi’s
specific request for a small
Torah scroll. On June 2nd, she
wrote: “Yes, we do have small
scrolls that would be suitable
for children to carry, and I
could have one of those ready
for you when you come to
London during the summer.”
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Getting the Scroli

That August, at the conclusion of the Confirmation
class trip to Israel, the Patzes and their daughters
flew to London. On August 14th they met with
Mrs. Baron, of the Memorial Scrolls Committee,
who showed them the storerooms where the Torah
scrolls were stacked, each carefully labeled and
identified, and met the scribe who was working on
correcting the scrolls that could be corrected.

From Naomi’s notes:

Then we were escorted to the library of the
Westminster Synagogue, a large high-ceilinged
room with dark paneling and a huge oval
conference table in the middle. On the table were
an envelope and a small package wrapped in
brown butcher paper and tied with string. Mrs.




Baron allowed us to unwrap it, and there was

the Torah — naked-looking, without coverings or
ornaments. The envelope contained the tags the
Jewish Museum curators, working under Nazi
orders, had affixed to the scroll identifying its
provenance. We began talking about how the
congregation’s kids would be able to carry the
Torah and about planning a dedication ceremony.
Suddenly, Debby (our older daughter, then 9 years
old) asked: “Who will get to carry the Torah
first?” We looked at each other and Norman said,
“Probably one of Dr. Portugal’s daughters and then
the Cummis kids (Phil Cummis was president

of the synagogue at the time) and perhaps the
Oolie girls (Sam was then chair of the Board of
Trﬁstees). Debby’s face fell. “Why don’t you be
the very first to carry the Torah,” Mrs. Baron
said. “Why don’t you carry it right now around
the table?” And so she did; and Aviva, then age 5,
carried it after her — proudly, carefully, seriously.
Needless to say, we had tears in our eyes. In a
letter a few weeks later, Mrs. Shaffer wrote about
“how moved Mrs. Baron was seeing your two
daughters carry the Torah.” Dr. Portugal’s dream
had already begun to be realized.

We carefully rewrapped the scroll in the butcher
paper and retied the strings. And then we had to
get it home! I’'m not sure what we had anticipated
we’d be given in the way of a container or carrying
case, but the paper-wrapped package was what

we carried out of the Westminster Synagogue.
The synagogue is in Rutland Gardens, opposite
Knightsbridge Barracks, around the corner from
Harrod’s Department Store. So there we went,
package in hand, and — not finding a more suitable
carrying case, got a salesperson to give us two
large shopping bags which we “double bagged”
and into which we lovingly placed the scroll. It
was a good thing we were going home the next
morning because we were utterly paranoid and
panicked that something would happen to the
scroll before we could bring it to the congregation.
When we got to the airport, customs personnel
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(remember, this was 1975 and there was no
systematic security in those days) tried to insist
that we unroll the scroll to show them what was
in it. After a bit of intense, heated discussion we
succeeded in sparing the scroll that indignity,
and it sat with us — in its shopping bags, now
reinforced by a nylon rucksack — until we got
home, at which time we brought it immediately
into the synagogue and placed it in the ark.

About the Scroll

The Torah scroll was written in the year 1900.
Beyond its relative uniqueness in being such a smail
scroll, this Torah scroll has other distinguishing
features. It is written in brown ink, unusual for a
Torah scroll, and is a “vav” scroll, meaning that
nearly all of its columns begin with the Hebrew
letter vav, a challenging calligraphic flourish

that requires very careful planning on the part of
the Torah scribe. The custom of designing the
layout of a scroll so that every line begins with
“vav” is mentioned in both the Zohar and the
Shulhan Arukh. One explanation for why this is
done is based on the description of the Tabernacle
built by the Israelites in the wilderness of Sinai
(Sh’'mot/Exodus 27:9-10), which had curtains
fastened to posts (amudim), by means of silver
hooks. The Hebrew word used for “hook” is “vav”
(indicating perhaps the shape of the hook itself).
The Tabemacle curtains are called y’ri-oh), the
same term used for the sheets of parchment on |
which the Torah text is written. Each column of
Torah text is called an ah-mood (the singular form
of amudim), which is the word used for the posts
of the Tabernacle enclosure. Thus, each ah-mood is
affixed (hooked) to the y’ri-ah by a vav. And thus
the conceit that just as the Tabernacle was God’s
dwelling place in the wilderness, so the Torah is
the dwelling place of God’s word today. Or, as
another scholar puts it, the letter “vay” when used

as a prefix means “and,” and so serves as a letter

of “connection” — a hint of the Torah’s unity and of
our connection, through Torah, to God.




The Generosity Of Our Congregation

Under the leadership of Philip Cummis, president,
and Audrey Weinstock, the immediate past
president of the congregation and chair of the
sanctuary beautification committee, we began the
search for appropriate ornamentation for the scroll.
The committee chose Moshe Zabari to design

our Torah ornaments. He began the project in the
summer of 1976 and completed it in early 1977.

Here is the letter Rabbi Patz wrote to the parents
of the children in our Religious School in March
1977:

Dear Parents,

We have undertaken a project in our school
designed to give our children a sense of
community responsibility and a personal tie

to the Holocaust Torah which we will dedicate

this spring. This Torah scroll, one of the
hundreds of thousands of Jewish ceremonial
objects gathered by the Nazis from the ravaged
Jewish communities of Czechoslovakia as their
inhabitants were being deported, was given

to our congregation by Dr. Samuel Portugal

in memory of his wife Isabelle. He conceived
of the idea during a Simhat Torah service
when he observed that we had no Torah small
enough for our children to carry.

This Torah scroll is barely 14” high from tip

to top. We hope that our children will come to
think of this scroll as “theirs,” thus giving it

— and the murdered community that once used
it — renewed life in a very special way.

To show our reverence for this Torah, and to
demonstrate our understanding of its history,
we have commissioned the famous artist and
designer, Moshe Zabari, of the Tobe Pascher
Workshop at the Jewish Museum in New York,
to create appropriate ornaments for it. He is
making a keter (crown), a yad (pointer), a m’eel
(mantle) and a wimpel (binder).

We are asking that the children of our
Religious School classes raise the funds to pay
for the mantle as their special contribution.
We have urged the classes not to simply ask
parents for the money but to develop projects
that will earn the cost of the mantle.

- The purpose of this letter is to inform you of
our project and to elicit your positive moral
support, cooperation and interest.

Norman R. Patz, Rabbi

During the 18 months between receiving the Torah
and its dedication, Rabbi Patz carefully researched
the origin of the scroll and the history of the
Jewish communities of Bohemia and Moravia

and, most especially, that of Dvur Krédlové. His
inquiries led him to the Society for the History

of the Jews of Czechoslovakia, whose president,

Ludovic Sturc, and demographic expert Joseph
Pick provided him with detailed information about
the Jewish community of Dvur Krélové. (As his
involvement with the organization progressed,
Rabbi Patz was invited to become one of the
trustees of the Society and began to lead the
society’s memorial service each March, marking
the anniversary of the liquidation of the Czech
family camp at Auschwitz-Birkenau. In 1994,
Rabbi Patz became president of the Society for the
History of Czechoslovak Jews — the very direct
result of our congregation’s acquisition of the
Czech Torah scroll.)

The following gifts enabled the congregation to
acquire and decorate our Torah scroll: '
Torah scroll: Dr. Samuel Portugal and daughters
Rhoda and Randi

in memory of Isabelle Portugal

Torah mantle: The children of the TSWE
‘ Religious School 1976-1977/5737




Torah pointer: Confirmation classes of 1976
and 1977

Torah wimpel: William Winston
in memory of his wife Evelyn

Mr. and Mrs. Irwin Albert
Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Brummer
Mr. and Mrs. Philip Cummis
Drs. Moses and Fannie Eisemann
Dr. and Mrs. Arthur Fost
. and Mrs. Richard Gardner
. and Mrs. Jerome Goodman
. and Mrs. Alan Greene
. and Mrs. Jack Gurewitz
. and Mrs. Ira Kay
. and Mrs. Monroe Kaplan
. and Mrs. Jay Levine
. and Mrs. Bernard Maged
. and Mrs. Edward Maged
. and Mrs. Samuel Oolie
Mrs. Shirley Palevsky

and daughters
Rabbi and Mrs. Norman R. Patz
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Podvey
Rabbi’s Good Works Fund
Mr. and Mrs. Norman Rafalowsky
Mr. and Mrs. Carl Reich
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Rosier
Mr. and Mrs. Stanley Scheiner
Mr. and Mrs. N. Willard Schwartz
Mr. and Mrs. Stanley Sigman
Sisterhood — 1977
Mr. and Mrs. Louis Tucker
Mr. and Mrs. Joel Weinstock
Dr. and Mrs. Jerome Weiss

Torah crown:
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The Dedication Ceremony

On April 14, 1977 — 27 Nisan, 5737 — Yom
haShoah v’haG’vu-rah - Holocaust and Heroism
Remembrance Day — the members of Temple
Sholom of West Essex dedicated the Holocaust
Torah scroll we received in permanent trust from
the Memorial Scrolls Committee in 1975.

The program began with a Yom haShoah
memorial service and the singing (by Debra and
Shari Kaplan and Monica Merel) of a musical
setting of “I Never Saw Another Butterfly,” a poem
written by Pavel Friedmann while he was interned
in the Terezin Ghetto. (From there, he went to his
death in Auschwitz-Birkenau.) Then, following
long-established Jewish tradition, the scroll was
carried into the sanctuary in a formal procession
under a huppah — with all the honor, joy and
ceremony that attend a bride and groom at their
wedding. Dr. Portugal carried the Torah, flanked
by his daughters Rhoda and Randi. The poles of
the huppah were held by Sam Brummer, Laurie
Katzmann, Harry Mann and John Oettinger, all

of whom had direct personal connections to the
tragedy of the Shoah. They were accompanied

‘by the members of the Confirmation class and

representatives of the 4th through 9th grade
Religious School classes: Ilene Gordon, Stacey




Isquith, Michelle Sher, Scott Kochman, Neil
Tuch, Bennett Kleinberg, Steven Pockrass, Arthur
Cohen, Patty Rich, Andrea Weissman, Ellen
Ludwig, Neil Nussbaum and Michael Dusche.
Philip Cummis received the scroll from Dr.
Portugal on behalf of the congregation.

Dr. Curt Silberman, an attorney in Essex County
and president of the American Federation of Jews
from Central Europe, president of the Jewish
Philanthropic Fund of 1933, Inc., co-chairman

of the Council of Jews from Germany (London-
New York-Jerusalem), and a trustee of the Leo
Baeck Institute in New York addressed us on “The
Lessons of the Holocaust.”

For the occasion, the congregation’s museum case
displayed materials and photographs of Jewish life
in Czechoslovakia, and on the walls of the lobby
were twelve paintings on Holocaust themes by
Reverend Leonard Spanburgh of St. Catherine of
Siena Roman Catholic Church in Cedar Grove.

A note by Father Spanburgh accompanied the
exhibit:
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This series of paintings is offered as a personal
response to the horrors of the Holocaust. The
idea came to me while taking a course on
“Teaching the Holocaust” at Hebrew Union
College-Jewish Institute of Religion“ Itis an
attempt to memorialize my brothers and sisters
who were duped and led to slaughter by many
who called themselves Christian. The paintings
labeled “Warsaw Ghetto” were inspired by the
photographs that Roman Vishniac took in the
ghetto in 1938. The debased insanity of culture
and misery side by side that took place at Terezin
as an attempt to fool the Western world inspired
two of these paintings.... “The Hasidic Boy “ is
a self-portrait, not in the sense of the features

er i sense of the outrage that I hope
| 1 portrayed. This
series is incomplete
and could never be
finished, for how could
| one paint 6,000,000
| portraits.

Reverend Spanburgh
died in 1983 at the

| age of 59; we read his
name in our yahrzeit
list on the anniversary
of his death.



The Ornaments For Our Holocaust Torah

The ornaments for our Holocaust Torah were
conceived, designed and executed by Moshe
Zabari. Mr. Zabari spent a great deal of time
reflecting on the symbolism of the little Torah
rescued from a Jewish community that is no
more, and its role as a tangible reminder for us
of the tragic loss of individuals, history, heritage
and future cut down in the Shoah. He chose two
biblical passages to express the meaning of the
scroll and to help worshipers in our congregation
focus on its special significance. '

In gilt letters on the crown are three words: ah-
nei-ni b’eh-met yi-sheh-kha — “answer me with
Your saving truth.” It is an anguished cry of faith
that questions yet remains strong. The phrase
appears as the last line of mah rovu — “how goodly
are your tents, O Jacob”, the morning prayer on
Shabbat, and comes from Psalm 69:14.

Zabari visualizes the two silver columns of the
Torah’s crown as the Tablets of the Law. One is
broken, as if by the enemy; the wooden erz hayyim
(the roller on which the scroll is mounted) is
visible above it. The other column contains a small
quartz crystal cluster — a sign of hope, of new

and renewed light, of life. Connecting the two are
rods of silver — hinting at barbed wire fencing — a
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tangible link between what was cut down and what
we are building up, a link between us and our past
and our children and their future. Delicate silver
beads relieve the starkness of Zabari’s conception. -

The tiny yad, the Torah pointer, is a slender silver
shaft in which the traditional finger is replaced by
a single quartz crystal that catches and reflects the
light. Silver beads on the shaft of the yad reinforce
the unity of the design.

Silk-screened on the raw-silk mantle designed by
Moshe Zabari, and serving as its breastplate, is a
quotation from the Prophet Ezekiel (27:9-11):

Then God said to me: “Prophesy to the wind,
prophesy, mortal, and say to it: “Thus says

the Eternal God: Come from the four winds,
O breath, come and breathe upon these slain
that they may live.”” I began to prophesy as
the Eternal One had commanded me. Breath
came into them; they came to life and rose to
their feet, a mighty host. Then God said to me:
“Mortal, these bones are the whole people of
Israel....”

In Ezekiel’s vision, the dry bones are given new
sinews, flesh and blood; they are clothed and
returned again to life. So have we done with this
Torah, no longer bare and lifeless. We have clothed
it with precious ornaments and are breathing life
into it again and giving it honor once more as

we read from it and learn from it and carry it in
hakafot on Shabbat and festival mornings and on
Simhat Torah. Ezekiel’s “dry bones” are the house
of Israel — our people past, present and future.

By our act of reclamation and restoration we tie
ourselves and our children ever more firmly to the
household of Israel.




Fragments of six yellow stars are embroidered

on the mantle, one for each of the six million

of our kpeople murdered by the Nazis. The stars
represent the identifying — and degrading — badges
our people were forced to wear. But they also
represent the magen david, the star of David that
has served for generations as an emblem of Jewish
identification and pride. According to Zabari, the
stars are fragments because they are evolving into
a flame of hope: “These bones shall live again.”
‘The use of embroidery and the beautiful fabric of
the mantle are especially appropriate because the
Jewish communities of Bohemia and Moravia had
a long and rich tradition of embroidering textiles
for synagogue use and so many of Dvur Krilové’s
Jews were engaged in the production of printed
textiles.

Zabari designed a special wooden stand for the
Torah to raise it and give it prominence in the ark.
The stand features a brass panel with the word
“zakhor” — “Remember” in elegant cutout letters.

Moshe Zabari is an internationally acclaimed
artist, one of the very few contemporary artists
who has focused exclusively on reinterpreting
Jewish ritual objects using contemporary media
and esthetics. His commissions are part of the
collection of synagogues and museums throughout
the world. He was born in Jerusalem, where he
attended the Bezalel School of Art. While there,
he received the Zellenbaum Prize for the best
project of the graduating class. Mr. Zabari came
to the United States at the invitation of the Tobe
Pascher Workshop at the Jewish Museum in New
York, where he spent many years creating Jewish
ceremonial objects in silver and other media.
Zabari’s design for a Memorial Lamp for the six
million Jews who died in the Holocaust won first
prize in the international competition of the Yad
Vashem Institute in Jerusalem; he also received
first prize for his work at the Sixth Biennial
National Religious Art Exhibition in 1969. A 25-
year retrospective of his work between 1976 and
1994 was organized by the Skirball Museum in
Los Angeles together with the New York Jewish
Museum.

The congregation owns four additional mantles
that were commissioned for our Holocaust Torah.

The first of these, the gift of Rabbi Norman and
Naomi Patz, was created by Marilyn Arnold, then
a student at the Philadelphia School of Design

and a member of the rabbi’s Confirmation class
when he served Temple Emanuel in Cherry Hill.
She undertook her assignment quickly and with
inspiration. The mantle she designed is made of
white satin with vertical stitching representing
flames — both the horror of the Holocaust and the
cleansing flames of hope, and, underscoring that
duality, the words in Hebrew ood mu-tzal mei-eish
— “a brand plucked from the fire.” It was used from
shortly after we received the Torah until the formal
dedication in 1977, and for years thereafter for
High Holy Day and pilgrimage festival services




(Sukkot, Passover and Shavuot) when all of the -
congregation’s Torah scrolls are dressed in white
mantles.

After Zabari’s raw-silk mantle became too fragile
to be used on a regular basis, the congregation
commissioned Anne Harris to design a new
mantle that would blend with the other mantles
she had made for the synagogue’s Torah scrolls.
Six distorted and incomplete Stars of David are
featured on the front of the mantle, echoing the
theme of the Zabari mantle.

Commissioned as a gift to the congregation by
our member Maxine Myers, Marcia Lewis of
Jerusalem designed the mantle with which we now
- dress the Torah on the three pilgrimage festivals.
Woven of fine cotton in a hopsacking texture, its )
decoration features a skyline showing Jerusalem’s
prominent landmarks (the Western Wall, the
domed synagogue at the Hebrew University, the
Kennedy memorial and Montefiore’s windmill
among them) and the word “Jerusalem” —
appliquéd along the bottom.

The fifth Torah mantle was created specifically for
use on the High Holy Days, a gift of Audrey and

- Joel Weinstock. It is white silk damask with floral
designs featuring pineapples, a sign of prosperity.
This elaborate woven fabric, too, recalls the textile
industry in which so many in Dvur Krélové’s
Jewish community were involved, a subtle homage
to the Torah’s origins at a time when our thoughts
should be focused inward.
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“I remember, I remember them and I am overwhelmed by sadness.
But this my heart remembers, and therefore do I have hope:
God’s mercy is limitless, God’s compassion never ends;

God’s mercy and compassion are renewed every day.

“The Eternal One is my portion,” says my soul,
Therefore will I hope in God.”

Lamentations 3:20-24
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